
 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

MIAMI DIVISION 

CASE NO.04-22572-CIV-KING 

--------------------------------------------------------------- X  

EMMA YAIZA DIAZ; JOHN A. LANMAN; 
AMERICAN FEDERATION OF LABOR AND 
CONGRESS OF INDUSTRIAL 
ORGANIZATIONS; AMERICAN FEDERATION 
OF STATE, COUNTY AND MUNICIPAL 
EMPLOYEES, AFL-CIO; FLORIDA PUBLIC 
EMPLOYEES COUNCIL 79, AFSCME, AFL-CIO 
and SERVICE EMPLOYEES INTERNATIONAL 
UNION, 
 
  Plaintiffs, 
 
 vs. 
 
SUE M. COBB, Secretary of State of Florida; 
BRENDA C. SNIPES, Broward County Supervisor 
of Elections; JERRY HOLLAND, Duval County 
Supervisor of Elections; LESTER SOLA, Miami-
Dade County Supervisor of Elections; BILL 
COWLES, Orange County Supervisor of Elections; 
and ARTHUR ANDERSON, Palm Beach County 
Supervisor of Elections, 

 
  Defendants. 
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I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

1. This class action complaint is brought by the Individual Plaintiffs 

on behalf of all similarly situation eligible Florida electors in Broward, Duval, Miami-

Dade, Orange, and Palm Beach Counties, who have been, and continue to be, denied the 

right to vote because of Defendants’ unduly restrictive voter registration practices and 

procedures, in violation of the Voting Rights Act of 1965, the National Voter 

Registration Act (“NVRA”), and the First, Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments of the 

United States Constitution. 

2. The Individual Plaintiffs, as well as many members of the Union 

Plaintiffs (the “Injured Union Members”), are eligible electors, who in 2004, prior to the 

federal elections, affirmed under oath on their Florida voter registration forms that they 

met each of the eligibility requirements for voting set forth in plain language on the face 

of the application.  Individual Plaintiffs, and the Injured Union Members, therefore 

provided all the information necessary for the Defendant County Supervisors of Elections 

to determine their eligibility to vote under the Constitution and the laws of the State of 

Florida. 

3. Nonetheless, Defendant County Supervisors of Elections, acting 

under color of state law, unlawfully refused to process the voter registration applications 

of the Individual Plaintiffs and the Injured Union Members, and failed to add these 

otherwise eligible electors to the voter rolls, on the ground that these individuals 

indicated only once, but not twice, that they were United States citizens, that they were 

mentally competent, and that they were not convicted felons.   

4. The Individual Plaintiffs, (as well as the Injured Union Members) 

each failed to check one or more of three boxes:  a box indicating that he or she is a 
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citizen, a box indicating that he or she has not been declared mentally incompetent, and a 

box indicating that he or she is not a convicted felon.  The Defendant County Supervisors 

considered these applications incomplete, even though, by swearing to the oath at the end 

of the form, applicants provided all of the information that would be conveyed by 

checking the three boxes at issue in this suit.  

5. The Florida Secretary of State, who is the State’s chief election 

officer and is charged by law with ensuring the proper, uniform and non-discriminatory 

application of federal election laws in the state, acting under color of state law failed to 

address – and in some instances affirmatively directed and encouraged – the Defendant 

County Supervisors of Elections’ unlawful failure to process applications in which one or 

more of the boxes was not checked. 

6. In many cases, Defendants failed to provide notice to individuals 

whose applications were deemed incomplete in time for those individuals to amend their 

applications before the close of the rolls prior to the 2004 election. 

7. As a consequence of Defendants’ unlawful actions, the Individual 

Plaintiffs, each of the Injured Union Members, and over 14,000 of Florida’s eligible 

electors, all of whom timely submitted applications prior to the 2004 federal elections, 

but failed to check one or more of the three redundant boxes on the form, were denied 

their right to vote in the 2004 federal elections.   

8. By refusing to process the Individual Plaintiffs’ and the Injured 

Union Members’ registration applications because of immaterial omissions, Defendants 

violated the materiality provision of the Voting Rights Act of 1965, which prohibits any 

error or omission in a voter’s application that is “not material in determining whether 
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such individual is qualified under State law to vote” from being cause for vote denial, as 

well as the NVRA, which states that the mail voter registration form “may require only 

such identifying information (including the signature of the applicant), as is necessary to 

enable the appropriate State election official to assess the eligibility of the applicant and 

to administer voter registration and other parts of the election process.”  Defendants’ 

unlawful action also resulted in an absolute denial of the Individual Plaintiffs’ (and many 

Injured Union Members’) right to vote for President, Vice President, and other federal 

officials in the 2004 federal elections, in violation of the First, Fifth, and Fourteenth 

Amendments of the United States Constitution. 

9. Moreover, the requirement that all citizens registering to vote 

check a box next to a statement with the confusing formulation, “I affirm that I have not 

been adjudicated mentally incapacitated with respect to voting, or, if I have, my 

competency has been restored,” functions as the equivalent of a literacy and 

comprehension test in violation of the Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1973aa(a), and in 

violation of Individual Plaintiffs’ (and many Injured Union Members’) due process rights 

under the First, Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution. 

10. Effective in 2006, the Florida legislature enacted laws requiring the 

Defendant Supervisors to deem incomplete applications in which any of the three boxes 

at issue were not checked.  Thus, the Florida legislators made mandatory Defendants’ 

unlawful 2004 practice.  The unlawful practice therefore continues, resulting in ongoing 

violations of the Individual Plaintiffs’ and the Injured Union Members’ fundamental 

rights.   
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11. Florida’s current Secretary of State, Sue M. Cobb (“Defendant 

Cobb”), has failed to address the past and ongoing harm to the Individual Plaintiffs and 

the Injured Union Members.  The Individual Plaintiffs, Injured Union Members, and 

additional thousands of Florida’s eligible electors, are consequently threatened with 

absolute denial of their right to vote in the 2006 federal elections. 

12. As the deadline for registration approaches, eligible electors will 

become interested in the election and attempt to register to vote.  As in 2004, thousands 

of applicants will neglect to check one or more of the citizenship, felon, and/or mental 

incapacity boxes.  

13. Those applicants who receive timely notice of such deficiencies 

will be impermissibly and unlawfully burdened with the requirement of submitting a 

second voter registration application with information that is immaterial to determining 

their eligibility to register.   

14. Those applicants who do not receive notice, or timely notice, of 

deficiencies in their application are prohibited, pursuant to recent amendments to 

Florida’s election code, from correcting their application after the voter registration 

deadline.  Accordingly, such eligible electors will be disenfranchised and unlawfully 

denied the right to vote in the 2006 elections. 

15. As set forth below, Defendants have violated and continue to 

violate federal and state law by, inter alia, refusing to register eligible voters on the basis 

of non-material errors or omissions in their voter registration applications; failing to 

provide adequate notice to voter applicants whose registration applications were deemed 

incomplete and failing to provide an opportunity to submit the missing information; and 
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in other cases, failing to provide such notice and opportunity in time to allow the 

applicants to submit the missing information prior to the deadline for registering to vote 

in the November 2004 federal election; applying varying standards in determining the 

eligibility of voters within and between counties; and by requiring that applicants 

complete a form that includes the functional equivalent of a literacy test.   

16. Plaintiffs seek nominal damages from Defendant County 

Supervisors of Elections for denying them and their members the right to vote in the 

November 2004 general election. 

17. Plaintiffs’ remedies at law are, however, insufficient to provide 

them adequate relief for the continuing burden placed by Defendants on the fundamental 

right to vote.  Plaintiffs’ rights can be preserved only through declaratory and injunctive 

relief against the Defendant County Supervisors of Elections and the Defendant Cobb.  

Simply put, Plaintiffs ask this Court to order that the Individual Plaintiffs and the Injured 

Union Members whose applications have been rejected, be put on the voter rolls; and that 

Defendants be enjoined from deeming applications incomplete where the only omission 

is failure to check one of the three redundant boxes. 

18. This declaratory and injunctive relief sought by Plaintiffs is 

quickly achieved, easily implemented, and fully warranted under established law. 

19. The Union Plaintiffs have made extensive efforts to register new 

voters throughout Florida, including in Broward, Duval, Miami-Dade, Orange and Palm 

Beach Counties, and to encourage their Florida members to vote.  As a result of their 

efforts and other voter registration efforts, the number of registered voters in the State of 

Florida has reached unprecedented numbers.  However, the voting rights of many 
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Floridians, including members of the union plaintiffs, have been denied, and will 

continue to denied, because of Defendants’ unlawful registration practices and 

procedures, unless this Court grants the requested relief. 

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

20. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant 

to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, as a case arising under the laws of the United States; under 28 

U.S.C. § 1343(a)(4), as a case to recover damages or to secure equitable or other relief 

under any Act of Congress providing for the protection of civil rights, including the right 

to vote; and under 28 U.S.C. § 1367 granting supplemental jurisdiction over related 

claims. 

21. Plaintiffs’ prayer for declaratory and injunctive relief is authorized 

by 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202; 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-9(b); and Rules 57 and 65 of the 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 

22. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) 

because Defendants Lester Sola, Miami-Dade County Supervisor of Elections; Brenda 

Snipes, Broward County Supervisor of Elections; and Arthur Anderson, Palm Beach 

County Supervisor of Elections reside in this District. 

III. THE PARTIES 

A. The Individual Plaintiffs 

23. Plaintiff Emma Yaiza Diaz is a United States citizen and is over 

the age of eighteen.  Plaintiff Diaz is a resident of Miami-Dade County, Florida.  She has 

never been convicted of a felony and never been adjudicated mentally incompetent. 
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24. Plaintiff John A. Lanman is a United States citizen and is over the 

age of eighteen.  Plaintiff Lanman is a resident of Orange County, Florida.  He has never 

been convicted of a felony and never been adjudicated mentally incompetent. 

B. The Union Plaintiffs 

25. Plaintiffs AFL-CIO, AFSCME, AFSCME Council 79, and SEIU 

(the “Union Plaintiffs”) bring suit on behalf of their individual members in Broward, 

Duval, Miami-Dade, Orange and Palm Beach Counties, who have been aggrieved by 

Defendants’ failure to comply with federal constitutional and federal statutory guarantees 

and provisions relating to voting and who have standing to sue in their own right.  Their 

members’ individual interests in fully participating in the electoral process are germane to 

the purposes of the plaintiff organizations, and the claims alleged herein do not require 

the participation of individual members in the lawsuit.  In addition, Defendants’ failure to 

process voter registration applications submitted by eligible electors for the reasons at 

issue in this lawsuit has frustrated the mission of the Organizational Plaintiffs and forced 

them to divert substantial resources to counteract Defendants’ unlawful conduct. 

AFL-CIO 

26. Plaintiff American Federation of Labor and Congress of Industrial 

Organizations (“AFL-CIO”) is a federation of 60 national and international unions (the 

“affiliate unions”) with a total membership of between 8 and 9 million working men and 

women, including hundreds of thousands of members throughout the State of Florida, 

including members in Broward, Duval, Miami-Dade, Orange and Palm Beach Counties. 

27. The objectives and principles of the AFL-CIO, as set forth in its 

Constitution, include:  “To protect and strengthen our democratic institutions, to secure 

full recognition and enjoyment of the rights and liberties to which we are justly entitled, 
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and to preserve and perpetuate the cherished traditions of our democracy,” and “to 

encourage workers to register and vote, to exercise their full rights and responsibilities of 

citizenship, and to perform their rightful part in the political life of the local, state and 

national communities.”   

28. This action is directly relevant to the AFL-CIO’s mission to secure 

the voting rights of working men and women and traditionally disenfranchised 

communities.  Encouraging such political participation is a key function of the AFL-CIO.  

Ensuring that citizens who have attempted to register to vote are actually able to vote is 

an obvious corollary to that mission.  The AFL-CIO thus has a strong and demonstrated 

interest in ensuring that their members who have applied to register to vote are, in fact, 

allowed to vote. 

29. The affiliate unions have members in the counties of Broward, 

Duval, Miami-Dade, Orange, and Palm Beach, who are qualified to register to vote, in 

that they are citizens of the United States, at least eighteen years of age, permanent 

residents of the State of Florida and have never been adjudicated a felon or mentally 

incompetent.   

AFSCME, AFLCIO 

30. Plaintiff American Federation of State, County and Municipal 

Employees, AFLCIO (“AFSCME”) is an Affiliate Union of the AFL-CIO that represents 

approximately 1.4 million working men and women, including in excess of 110,000 

workers throughout the State of Florida, including in Broward, Duval, Miami-Dade, 

Orange and Palm Beach Counties. 

31. The AFSCME International Constitution provides that:  “Union 

members are both workers and citizens.” The Constitution further provides that:  “For 
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unions, the work place and the polling place are inseparable, and the exercise of the 

awesome rights and responsibilities of citizenship is equally required at both.” 

32. This action is directly relevant to AFSCME’s mission to secure the 

voting rights of working men and women and traditionally disenfranchised communities.  

Encouraging such political participation is a key function of AFSCME.  Ensuring that 

citizens who have attempted to register to vote are actually able to vote is an obvious 

corollary to that mission.  AFSCME thus has a strong and demonstrated interest in 

ensuring that its members who have applied to register to vote are, in fact, allowed to 

vote.   

33. AFSCME has members in the counties of Broward, Duval, Miami-

Dade, Orange, and Palm Beach, of Florida who are qualified to register to vote, such that 

they are citizens of the United States, at least eighteen years of age, permanent residents 

of the State of Florida and have never been adjudicated a felon or mentally incompetent.   

AFSCME Council 79 

34. Plaintiff Florida Public Employees Council 79, AFSCME, AFL-

CIO (“AFSCME Council 79”), is a labor organization, an affiliate of AFSCME and an 

Affiliate Union of AFL-CIO.  AFSCME Council 79 represents more than 110,000 

workers in Broward, Duval, Miami-Dade, Orange, and Palm Beach counties in Florida, 

including workers in every county in the State. 

35. AFSCME Council 79 has members in the counties of Broward, 

Duval, Miami-Dade, Orange, and Palm Beach who are qualified to register to vote, in 

that they are citizens of the United States, at least eighteen years of age, permanent 

residents of the State of Florida and have never been adjudicated a felon or mentally 

incompetent. 
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SEIU 

36. Plaintiff Service Employees International Union, AFL-CIO 

(“SEIU”) is an Affiliate of the Change to Win Federation with more than 1.6 million 

members, including in excess of 30,000 members in Broward, Duval, Miami-Dade, 

Orange and Palm Beach Counties, and elsewhere throughout the State of Florida. 

37. The SEIU Constitution expresses the principle that “workers’ 

voices [must be] heard at every level of government” and that “unions must participate in 

the political life of our society.”  The SEIU Constitution further provides that in order to 

“benefit [SEIU’s] members and improve their conditions by every means,” SEIU will 

“engage in ... civic, ... political, legal ... and other activities.”   

38. SEIU has members in every county of Florida who are qualified to 

register to vote in that they are citizens of the United States, at least eighteen years of age, 

permanent residents of the State of Florida and have never been adjudicated a felon or 

mentally incompetent. 

39. This action is directly relevant to the SEIU’s mission to secure the 

voting rights of working men and women and traditionally disenfranchised communities.  

Encouraging such political participation is a key function of the SEIU.  Ensuring that 

citizens who have attempted to register to vote are actually able to vote is an obvious 

corollary to that mission.  The SEIU thus has a strong and demonstrated interest in 

ensuring that its members who have applied to register to vote are, in fact, allowed to 

vote. 
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C. Defendants 

Sue M. Cobb 

40. Defendant Sue M. Cobb (“Defendant Cobb”) is the Secretary of 

State of Florida since January 2006.  As Secretary of State, Defendant Cobb is the chief 

elections officer of the State of Florida and has responsibility for general supervision and 

administration of election laws.  Fla. Stat. § 97.012 (2005) & (2006).  She is sued in her 

official capacity for her actions taken under color of state and federal law. 

41. Among other things, Defendant Cobb must ensure that: 

(i) Federal election laws are interpreted and interpreted 

and implemented in a uniform and non-discriminatory manner throughout 

Florida, see 42 U.S.C. §1973gg-8; Fla. Stat. §97.012(1), (2), (7), (9) 

(2006);  

(ii) Every eligible voter registration applicant is 

registered to vote, see 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-6(a)(1); and 

42. As of January 1, 2006, the Secretary of State has authority to issue 

rules, pursuant to Fla. Stat. §§ 120.536(1) and 120.54 (2006), providing for uniform 

standards for the proper and equitable interpretation and implementation of the Florida 

statutes governing the registration of electors.  Fla. Stat. § 97.012 (2006). 

43. Defendant Cobb serves as the chief elections officer for the state 

under the NVRA.  As such, she is accountable for coordinating the State’s 

responsibilities under the NVRA, and for ensuring that all voter registration applications 

and forms prescribed or approved by the Division of Elections are in compliance with the 

VRA and the NVRA.  Fla. Stat. § 97.012 (2006). 
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44. Defendant Cobb is ultimately responsible for ensuring that every 

eligible applicant for voter registration is registered to vote.  42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-6(a)(1). 

45. During 2004 and 2005, Glenda Hood was Florida’s Secretary of 

State and chief elections officer, until she resigned in December 2005. 

The Defendant Supervisors of Elections 

46. Defendants Brenda Snipes (“Snipes”), Jerry Holland (“Holland”), 

Lester Sola (“Sola”), Bill Cowles (“Cowles”) and Arthur Anderson (“Anderson”) 

(collectively, the “Supervisor Defendants”) are Supervisors of Elections for Broward, 

Duval, Miami-Dade, Orange and Palm Beach Counties, respectively.  They are sued in 

their official capacities in connection with their actions taken under color of state and 

federal law. 

47. Each Supervisor, including each of the Defendant Supervisors, is 

obligated by law to ensure that every eligible applicant for voter registration is registered 

to vote.  Fla. Stat. § 98.045(1) (2005) & (2006). 

48. In 2004 and 2005, Supervisors were responsible for maintaining 

that County’s voter registration books and for ensuring that all voter registration and list 

maintenance procedures in that County were in compliance with the VRA.  See Fla. 

Stat. §§ 97.012(11) and 98.015 (2004) & (2005).   

49. As of January 1, 2006, Supervisors became responsible for 

updating voter registration information, for entering new voter registrations into the new 

statewide voter registration system, and for ensuring that all voter registration and list 

maintenance procedures in that County comply with the Voting Rights Act, the NVRA, 

the Help America Vote Act of 2002, and the rules issued by the Secretary of State.  Fla. 

Stat. § 98.015 (2006). 
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IV. LEGAL BACKGROUND 

50. The Voting Rights Act: 

(A) prohibits elections officials from denying the right to vote 

because of an error or omission on a voter registration application where “such error is 

not material in determining whether such individual is qualified under State law to vote in 

such election.” 42 U.S.C. § 1971(a)(2)(B); 

(B) prohibits persons acting under color of law from applying 

different standards to individuals within the same county in determining whether an 

individual is qualified to vote.  See 42 U.S.C. § 1971(a)(2)(A); 

(C) prohibits the denial of any citizen’s right to vote in any 

Federal, State, or local election because of his or her failure to comply with any test or 

device, including “that a person as a prerequisite for voting or registration for voting (1) 

demonstrate the ability to read, write, understand, or interpret any matter.”  

42 U.S.C. § 1973aa. 

51. The National Voter Registration Act of 1993 (“NVRA”)  requires:  

(A) any State program or activity to protect the integrity of the 

electoral process by ensuring the maintenance of an accurate and current voter 

registration roll for elections for Federal office shall be uniform, nondiscriminatory, and 

in compliance with the Voting Rights Act; 

(B) any eligible applicant be registered to vote  if their valid 

voter registration form is received by the appropriate State official within 30 days or less 

prior to the State’s book closing; 

14 of 105



 

15 
 

(C) the appropriate State election official send notice to each 

applicant of the disposition of the application; and  

(D) that any motor voter registration form may not require 

duplicate information and should contain only the minimum amount of information 

necessary to “enable State election officials to assess the eligibility of the applicant.”  42 

U.S.C. §§ 1973gg-3 and 1973gg-6 (2006); and 

 (E)  the mail voter registration form “may require only such 

identifying information (including the signature of the applicant), as is necessary to 

enable the appropriate State election official to assess the eligibility of the applicant and 

to administer voter registration and other parts of the election process.”   

52. The Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution 

prohibit a State from denying a person’s fundamental right to vote, to have his or her vote 

counted, to associate for political purposes, and to seek political representation by voting, 

without due process of law.  Further, the State may impose no burden on such liberty 

interests where the state action is arbitrary and irrational. 

V. DEFENDANT’S UNLAWFUL ACTIONS 

53. The 2004 general election was scheduled for November 2nd.  In 

that election, Florida electors had an opportunity to vote for the President and Vice 

President of the United States, United States Senator, various other offices and a host of 

ballot initiatives. 
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54. The deadline for registering to vote in the November 2nd federal 

election was October 4, 2004. §97.055(1), Fla. Stat. (voter registration books close 29 

days before each election). 

55. The Florida voter registration application that was used in 2004 

contains a box at the top and center of the application and states in pertinent part:  “TO 

REGISTER, YOU MUST . . . [b]e a U.S. citizen . . .  [n]ot now be adjudicated mentally 

incapacitated with respect to voting in Florida or any other state . . . [and] [n]ot have been 

convicted of a felony in Florida, or any other state, without your civil rights having been 

restored.”  The 2004 application is attached hereto as Ex. A.  The form requires, on Line 

17, that all applicants affirm an oath that states, “I am a citizen of the U.S.”   Further, by 

signing Line 17, an applicant certifies that he or she is “qualified to register as an elector 

under the Constitution and laws of the State of Florida,” and that “if [that] is not true, [he 

or she] can be convicted of a felony.” 

56. Lines 2, 3 and 4 of the application require the applicant to provide 

information that is duplicative of information contained in the oath at Line 17.  Line 2 

asks the applicant to attest to his or her citizenship status by checking a box labeled “yes” 

or “no” next to the question “Are you a U.S. citizen?” 

57. Lines 3 and 4 of the application, respectively, request that the 

applicant “affirm” that “I am not a convicted felon, or if I am, my rights relating to voting 

have been restored,” and that “I have not been adjudicated mentally incapacitated with 

respect to voting or, if I have, my competency ha been restored,” even though the 

applicant affirms those facts by signing Line 17. 
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58. Defendant Supervisors had a practice of deeming applications 

incomplete if the applicant failed to check one or more of the three checkboxes, 

notwithstanding that the information conveyed by checking the boxes is redundant of the 

oath as to eligibility in connection with the fact that the requirements were set forth 

clearly at the top of the form. 

59. On information and belief, the information gained from the 

applicants’ checking or failing to check the boxes has never been used in any meaningful 

effort to prevent ineligible voters from registering and voting in the election. 

The Citizenship Box 

60. Line 17 of the Florida Voter Registration Application Form that 

was used in 2004 and 2005 contains an oath that states, among other things, that “I am a 

citizen of the U.S.” Applicants sign Line 17 to affirm the truth of that statement and their 

understanding that “if it is not true, I can be convicted of a felony.” 

61. Line 2 of the 2004 and 2005 Florida Voter Registration 

Application Form likewise asks applicants to attest to their citizenship status by checking 

boxes labeled “yes” or “no” next to the question “Are you a U.S. citizen?”  On the form, 

applicants are instructed that, if they did not check the box, they should not complete the 

form.  The 2006 revised form includes a similar instruction, in addition to the one that:  

“YOU ARE UNABLE TO AFFIRM THE STATEMENTS IN BOX[] 3 . . . YOU ARE 

INELIGIBLE TO VOTE.”  A copy of the revised form is attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

62. In 2004, the Supervisor Defendants (except for the Miami-Dade 

Supervisor) initially did not process voter registration applications on which the applicant 

neglected to check the box that he or she is a U.S. citizen. 
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63. On September 24, 2004, Judith Browne (“Browne”), acting Co-

Director of Advancement Project (an organization promoting voters’ rights), notified 

former Secretary of State’s Hood’s counsel, Richard Perez (“Perez”), General Counsel 

for the Florida Department of State, that the refusal to process voter registration 

applications because the citizenship box was not checked was unlawful if applicants 

signed the applications attesting that they are U.S. citizens. 

64. In a September 28, 2004 letter to Browne (the “Perez Letter”), 

Perez nonetheless purported to “conclude” as a matter of law that an application is 

incomplete and cannot be processed unless the citizenship box has been checked, even if 

the applicant has signed the oath affirming that he or she is a U.S. citizen. 

65. Perez forwarded a copy of his letter to each of Florida’s 67 

Supervisors of Elections, among others.  On information and belief, former Secretary of 

State Hood directed that the Perez Letter be distributed to all Supervisors, including the 

Defendant Supervisors, with the intent that the Letter operate as a statewide legal 

directive. 

66. The Perez Letter was issued less than one week before the October 

4th deadline for registering to vote in the November 2004 general election. 

67. After plaintiffs filed their original complaint in this action, 

Supervisors in some counties, including Broward, Duval, Miami-Dade and Orange 

Counties, decided, in the remaining days leading up until the close of books for the 2004 

elections, irrespective of the Perez letter, to process applications on which the affirmation 

in Line 17 was executed but the citizenship box was left blank. 
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68. However, Supervisors in several counties, including Palm Beach, 

some of whom, on information and belief, treated the Perez Letter as a binding directive, 

refused to process applications on which the citizenship box was not checked, even if the 

oath was signed affirming that the applicant is a U.S. citizen. 

69. In Palm Beach County around 500 applications were affected, and 

the applicants were consequently denied the right to vote in the November 2004 general 

election. 

70. Palm Beach, and many other Florida countries have, therefore, 

refused to accept an oath by an applicant under threat of perjury as sufficient evidence of 

citizenship and have deprived hundreds (in Palm Beach) and many thousands more in the 

State of Florida of their right to vote in the November 2004 elections, because they did 

not twice affirm their citizenship, or rather, because they did not also check a box. 

71. Registration applications were, therefore, not treated uniformly 

with regard to the citizenship checkbox across different counties in the State, with the 

result that applications with such omission were deemed acceptable in some countries 

where applicants were then placed on the rolls, while applications submitted in other 

countries were not processed, thus precluding the applicants from voting in the 

November 2004 elections. 

72. Recognizing the grave injury to eligible voters resulting from such 

unlawful practice, other states chose to process applications even if the applicant did not 

check the citizenship box.  The Ohio Secretary of State, J. Kenneth Blackwell, for 

example, notified all county boards of elections on September 7, 2004, that “I am 

instructing county boards of elections to accept otherwise valid voter registration 
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applications even if the applicants did not check the `yes’ boxes.”  In Washington, the 

state received a letter from federal election officials indicating that Washington voter 

registration applicants did not need to check the citizenship box.  See Susan Gilmore, 

3,000 Denied the Right to Vote, Sept. 22, 2003 (Dean Logan, Kings County Supervisor of 

Elections, stated that “These people are signing an oath saying they were 18 and met the 

qualifications, but didn’t mark the citizenship box.  It seems odd it would deny 

registration.”). 

The Mental Incapacity Box 

73. The 2004 Florida Voter Registration Application Form included a 

checkbox which each voter applicant must check to “affirm that I have not been 

adjudicated mentally incapacitated with respect to voting, or if I have, my competency 

has been restored.”  On the form, applicants are instructed that, if they did not check the 

box, they should not complete the form.  The 2006 revised form includes a similar 

instruction, in addition to the one that:  “YOU ARE UNABLE TO AFFIRM THE 

STATEMENTS IN BOX[] 4 . . . YOU ARE INELIGIBLE TO VOTE.” 

74. The Supervisor Defendants refused to process voter registration 

applications on which the applicant neglected to check the affirmation of non-

adjudication of mental incapacity box. 

75. Thousands of eligible voters in Broward, Duval, Miami-Dade, 

Orange, and Palm Beach County were thus deprived of their right to vote in the 

November 2004 federal elections, not because they were not qualified as electors on the 

basis of mental incapacity, but simply because they did not check the corresponding box 

on their voter registration application. 
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76. In 2004, in Orange County alone, 1329 applicants did not check 

the mental capacity box.   

77. On information and belief, applicants signed the oath affirming 

their eligibility on Line 17 of the form on nearly all of the registration applications that 

were not processed because of the applicant’s failure to check the mental incapacity box. 

78. But checking the mental capacity box is unnecessary where the 

applicant has signed the oath.  By signing Line 17, a voter applicant certifies that he or 

she is “qualified to register as an elector under the Constitution and laws of the State of 

Florida,” and that “if [that] is not true, [he or she] can be convicted of a felony.” The 

eligibility requirements referred to in Line 17 appear in bold type in a box located at the 

top and center of the form.  The box states in pertinent part:  “TO REGISTER, YOU 

MUST ... [n]ot now be adjudicated mentally incapacitated with respect to voting in 

Florida or any other state ...”  The information thus provided is sufficient for the 

Supervisor to determine the applicants’ eligibility to vote.  Checking the box is, therefore, 

redundant. 

79. The 2004 Florida Voter Registration Application is confusing with 

regard to the language concerning the mental incapacity box, and the box serves no 

purpose other than preventing eligible voters from registering to vote.  Therefore the state 

is in part responsible for the error or omission made by applicants who incorrectly failed 

to check the box.  The large number of eligible electors rejected based on the failure to 

check the mental incapacity box by itself demonstrates that the language is confusing. 

Further, the 2006 revised Florida Voter Registration Application is ambiguous and 
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confusing with regard to the language and the instructions concerning the mental 

incapacity box.   

80. The language chosen by Defendants for eliciting information with 

regard to applicants’ mental incapacity, functions as the equivalent of a literacy and test, 

prohibited by the Voting Rights Act.  42 U.S.C. § 1973aa(a).  To check the box, the voter 

applicant must be capable of understanding and interpreting legal terminology used in the 

Florida Constitution (“adjudicated mentally incapacitated”) further complicated by the 

addition of a double negative, which entire phrase then is made the object of an 

affirmation (“I affirm that I have not been adjudicated mentally incapacitated.”).  Such 

language presupposes a high degree of literacy, is unnecessarily and deliberately 

confusing, and does not conform with plain English guidelines. 

81. The mental incapacity box does not suitably if at all serve the 

purpose of excluding ineligible applicants.  On information and belief the number of 

voter applications rejected each year for incompleteness based on voters’ failure to check 

the mental incapacity box, despite such voters’ eligibility to vote, far exceeds the number 

of persons adjudicated mentally incapacitated in the State of Florida each year.  

82. There have been around 7,000 guardianship dispositions statewide 

in the Probate Divisions of Florida’s Circuit Courts in the most recent year between 2004 

and 2005 for which such statistics are available.  On information and belief, 20 to 25 

percent of these cases result in dispositions of mental incapacity with respect to voting, 

which amounts to around 1400-1650 cases in all of Florida per year.  Based on raw data 

received from Orange County, the number of applications rejected in the seven months 

between April 4, 2004 and October 15, 2005 in Orange County alone, due to applicants 
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not having checked the mental incapacity box, amounts to 1329 applications.  On 

information and belief, Defendants never ascertained that any of these applicants so 

rejected had been adjudicated mentally incapacitated. 

The Felon Box 

83. The 2004 Florida Voter Registration Application Form includes a 

separate checkbox and requires each voter applicant to check the box in order to “affirm” 

that “I am not a convicted felon, or if I am, my rights relating to voting have been 

restored.”  Ex. A, at Line 3.  The 2006 revised Form includes the same checkbox and 

corresponding affirmation.   

84. Applicants are instructed that if they do not check the box, they 

should not complete the form.  The 2006 revised form includes a similar instruction, in 

addition to the one that:  “YOU ARE UNABLE TO AFFIRM THE STATEMENTS IN 

BOX[] 3 . . . YOU ARE INELIGIBLE TO VOTE.” 

85. On information and belief, on nearly all of the registration 

applications that were not processed because of the applicant’s failure to check the felon 

status box, the applicants signed the oath affirming their eligibility on Line 17 of the 

form. 

86. But checking the felon status box is unnecessary where the 

applicant has signed the oath.  By signing Line 17, a voter applicant certifies that he or 

she is “qualified to register as an elector under the Constitution and laws of the State of 

Florida,” and that “if [that] is not true, [he or she] can be convicted of a felony.”  The 

eligibility requirements referred to in Line 17 appear in bold type in a box located at the 

top and center of the form.  The box states in pertinent part:  “TO REGISTER, YOU 

MUST ... [n]ot have been convicted of a felony in Florida, or any other state, without 
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your civil rights having been restored ...”  The information thus provided is sufficient for 

the Supervisor to determine the applicants’ eligibility to vote.  Checking the box is, 

therefore, redundant. 

87. The Supervisor Defendants refused to process voter registration 

applications on which the applicant neglected to check the felon status box. 

88. Thousands of eligible voters in Broward, Duval, Miami-Dade, 

Orange, and Palm Beach Countries have thus been deprived of their right to vote in the 

November 2004 federal elections, not because they were not qualified as electors on the 

basis of felon status, but simply because they did not check the corresponding box on 

their voter registration application. 

89. In Orange County alone, 1047 applicants did not check the felon 

box. 

90. In 2004, a total of 5,977 voter registration applicants in the five 

counties at issue in this suit did not check off the box indicating that they have not been 

convicted of a felony. 

Unequal Treatment of Applicants as to 
 Mental Incapacity and Felon Status Checkboxes 

91. Florida law requires its county Supervisors of Elections to accept 

the federal mail-in application form, known as the National Voter Registration 

Application, as well as the Federal Post Card Application for registration “if the 

completed application or postcard contains the information required by the constitution 

and laws of this state.” Fla. Stat. § 97.052(5) (2005). 

92. The National Voter Registration Application does not require 

applicants to indicate whether they have been convicted of a felony or adjudicated 
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mentally incapacitated but merely requires the applicant to affirm by signature that “I 

meet the eligibility requirements of my state and subscribe to any oath required.”  A copy 

of this application is attached hereto as Exhibit C.  The Federal Post Card Application 

only requires applicants to affirm by signature that they have not been “convicted of a 

felony or other disqualifying offense or been adjudicated mentally incompetent, or if so, 

my voting rights have been reinstated.” A copy of this application is attached hereto as 

Exhibit D. 

93. Neither the National Voter Registration Application nor the 

Federal Post Card Application require the applicant to indicate twice on the form that 

they have not been convicted of a felony or been adjudicated mentally incompetent. 

94. On information and belief, the Supervisor Defendants have 

processed an unknown number of National Voter Registration Applications and federal 

postcard applications, despite the absence of check-boxes specifying the applicants’ 

felony status and mental capacity. 

95. As a result, the voting rights of applicants in Broward, Duval, 

Miami-Dade, Orange, and Palm Beach Counties who use the Florida Voter Registration 

Application Form and did not check the felon status and mental capacity boxes on Lines 

3 or 4 were determined through different standards and procedures than applicants in 

those counties who used the federal registration forms. 

Insufficient Notice and the Lack of a Grace Period 

96. The Defendant Supervisors are required by law to notify voter 

registration applicants of the disposition of their applications.  42 U.S.C. § 1971gg-

6(a)(2); Fla. Stat. § 97.073(l) (2005) & (2006).  The notice must inform an applicant if his 
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or her application is deemed to be incomplete and must provide the applicant an 

opportunity to submit the missing information.  Fla. Stat. § 97.073(1) (2005) & (2006). 

97. Former Secretary of State Hood, through her counsel, was on 

record in 2004 as agreeing that the Department of State and the County Supervisors of 

Elections, including the Defendant Supervisors, must “provide each applicant an 

opportunity to complete the voter registration application.” 

98. On information and belief, the Supervisor Defendants nonetheless 

failed timely to notify hundreds, if not thousands, of applicants that their registration 

forms were deemed incomplete, and failed to provide those applicants an opportunity to 

submit the missing information in time to be eligible to vote in the November 2004 

federal election, thereby depriving those applicants of their right to vote in violation of 

federal statutory and constitutional law. 

99. Registration books are closed on the 29th day before an election. 

Fla. Stat. § 97.055 (2005) & (2006).  The deadline for initial applications is the same as 

the deadline for completing any errors or omissions, except that updates to the voters 

name, address, and signature are permitted.  Id.   

100. There is no grace period for curing an omission to check any of the 

described checkboxes. 

101. When combined with a confusing and ambiguous ballot design, 

insufficient notice, and the absence of a reasonable time period after the close of books to 

cure immaterial errors or omissions, Defendants’ practice resulted in the absolute denial 

of the Individual Plaintiffs’ and the Injured Union Members’ right to vote in the 2004 
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federal elections, in violation of Plaintiffs’ rights under the First, Fifth, and Fourteenth 

Amendments of the U.S. Constitution and under federal statutory law. 

A. The Plight of the Individual Plaintiffs 

102. On September 17, 2004, Plaintiff Diaz and her father registered to 

vote outside of the Miami Convention Center, in Miami-Dade County, where she had just 

been sworn in as a U.S. citizen.  Since neither he nor Diaz had received any information 

from the Miami-Dade Supervisor of Elections about their applications, on October 5, 

2004, Diaz’s father telephoned the Miami-Dade Supervisor’s office to inquire about the 

status of his application and that of Diaz.  He was told that his application was accepted, 

but that the office would have to check into the status of Diaz’s application.  The next 

day, Diaz’s father was advised that Diaz’s application had been rejected because she had 

not checked the box confirming that she had not been declared mentally incompetent.  

The Supervisor’s office further advised that it was too late for anything to be done to 

allow Diaz to vote in the November 2nd general election.  It was not until October 8, 

2004 – four days after the rolls were closed for the 2004 election – that Diaz received 

written notice from the Miami-Dade Supervisor’s office that her application had been 

deemed incomplete and that she was not yet registered to vote.  Diaz would like to vote in 

the November 2006 elections.  Defendant Miami-Dade Supervisor of Election has 

refused and continues to refuse to process Diaz’s voter registration application and add 

her to the voter rolls. 

103. Shortly before the registration deadline for the November 2004 

elections, Plaintiff Lanman completed a voter registration application and mailed it to 

Defendant Orange County Supervisor’s office.  To date, Plaintiff Lanman has received no 

communications from Defendant Cowles’ office concerning the status of his application.  
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Records of incomplete voter registration applications produced by Orange County in 

connection with this litigation reveal that Lanman’s application was deemed incomplete 

because he did not check off the boxes confirming that he had not been convicted of a 

felony and that he had not been adjudicated mentally incapacitated.  On information and 

belief, Lanman has not been added to the voter rolls for Orange County.  Lanman would 

like to vote in the November 2006 elections. 

B. The Harm to the Injured Union Members 

AFL-CIO 

104. Members of the AFL-CIO’s affiliate unions residing in Broward, 

Duval, Miami-Dade, Orange and Palm Beach counties, who applied to register to vote, 

desired to vote, and to have their votes counted, were denied their right to vote in the 

November 2004 elections for federal office based on the unduly restrictive registration 

practices described in this complaint.   

105. In Broward County, the applications of at least two AFL-CIO 

union members were not processed because the applicant had not checked the felony box, 

mental incapacity box, and citizenship box.  See Spreadsheet of AFL Union Members 

(attached hereto as Ex. E).  On information and belief, these incomplete voter registration 

applications were not processed prior to the November 2004 elections, nor were the 

applicants allowed a reasonable opportunity to cure any purported deficiency in their 

application prior to the November 2004 elections.  In consequence, the applicants were 

unable to vote on November 2, 2004.   

106. In Miami-Dade County, the applications of at least eleven AFL-

CIO union members were not processed because the applicant had not checked the 

citizenship, felon, and mental incapacity boxes; eighteen had not checked the felon and 
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mental incapacity boxes; eight had not checked the mental incapacity box; and one had 

not checked the felony box.  Id.   On information and belief, these incomplete voter 

registration applications were not processed prior to the November 2004 elections, nor 

were the applicants allowed a reasonable opportunity to cure any purported deficiency in 

their application prior to the November 2004 elections.  In consequence, the applicants 

were unable to vote on November 2, 2004.   

107. In Orange County, the applications of approximately one AFL-

CIO union members was not processed because the  applicant had not checked the mental 

incapacity box.  Id.  On information and belief, these incomplete voter registration 

applications were not processed prior to the November 2004 elections, nor were the 

applicants allowed a reasonable opportunity to cure any purported deficiency in their 

application prior to the November 2004 elections.  In consequence, the applicants were 

unable to vote on November 2, 2004.     

108. In Palm Beach County, the applications of at least twelve AFL-

CIO union members were not processed because the applicant had not checked the 

citizenship box. Six applicants had not checked the felony box, and four had not checked 

the mental incapacity box.  Id. On information and belief, these incomplete voter 

registration applications were not processed prior to the November 2004 elections, nor 

were the applicants allowed a reasonable opportunity to cure any purported deficiency in 

their application prior to the November 2004 elections.  In consequence, the applicants 

were unable to vote on November 2, 2004.     

109. In Duval County, at least one AFL-CIO member was not processed 

because the applicant had not checked the felon box, and one application was not 
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processed because the applicant had not checked the citizenship box.  Id. These 

incomplete voter registration applications were not processed prior to the November 2004 

elections, nor, on information and belief, were the applicants allowed a reasonable 

opportunity to cure any purported deficiency in their application prior to the November 

2004 elections.  In consequence, the applicants were unable to vote on November 2, 

2004.   

110. On information and belief, these “incomplete” voter registration 

applications were not processed prior to the November 2004 elections, nor were the 

applicants allowed a reasonable opportunity to cure any purported deficiency in their 

application prior to the November 2004 elections.  In consequence, the applicants were 

unable to vote on November 2, 2004.   

AFSCME and AFSCME Council 79 

111. AFSCME and AFSCME Council 79 nion members residing in 

Duval and Miami-Dade counties, who have applied to register to vote, desired to vote, 

and to have their votes counted, were denied their right to vote in the November 2004 

elections for federal office based on the unduly restrictive registration practices described 

in this complaint.  Id.   

112. In Miami-Dade County, the applications of approximately seven 

AFSCME and AFSCME Council 79 members were not processed.  Id.  On one 

application, the applicant had not checked the citizenship, felony, and mental incapacity 

boxes; on two applications, the applicant had not checked the felony and mental 

incapacity boxes; and on one application, the applicant had not checked the mental 

incapacity box .  On information and belief, these incomplete voter registration 

applications were not processed prior to the November 2004 elections, nor were the 
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applicants allowed a reasonable opportunity to cure any purported deficiency in their 

application prior to the November 2004 elections.  In consequence, the applicants were 

unable to vote on November 2, 2004. 

113. In Duval County, one AFSCME and AFSCME Council 79 

member submitted an application that was not processed because the applicant had not 

checked the citizenship box.  Id.     

114. These “incomplete” voter registration applications were not 

processed and the applicants were not allowed a reasonable opportunity to cure any 

purported deficiency in their application.  As a consequence, the applicants were unable 

to have their vote counted on November 2, 2004.   

SEIU 

115. Members of SEIU residing in Miami-Dade and Palm Beach 

counties, who applied to register to vote, desired to vote, and to have their votes counted, 

were denied their right to vote in the November 2004 elections for federal office based on 

the unduly restrictive registration practices described in this complaint.   

116. In Palm Beach County, the applications of  twoSEIU members 

were not processed because the applicant had not checked the mental incapacity box and 

the application of one SEIU member was not processed because the applicant had not 

checked the felony box.  See Spreadsheet of SEIU Members (attached hereto as Exhibit 

F). 

117. On information and belief, these “incomplete” voter registration 

applications were not processed prior to the November 2004 elections, nor were the 

applicants allowed a reasonable opportunity to cure any purported deficiency in their 
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application prior to the November 2004 elections.  In consequence, the applicants were 

unable to vote on November 2, 2004. 

C. The Effect of the New Laws and Form in Effect in 2006 

118. As of January 1, 2006, revisions to Florida’s elections laws have 

come into effect, including revisions to statutes pertaining to the authority granted to 

Defendant Cobb and the Defendant Supervisors; the design of the registration 

application; the registration procedures; the establishment of a new centralized 

computerized registration system as required by the Help America Vote Act of 2002; and 

other matters. 

119. As already stated, the Department of State now has additional 

rulemaking authority.  Fla. Stat. § 97.012(2) (2006). 

120. However, the Secretary of State as well as the Defendant 

Supervisors of Elections remain responsible for ensuring that all eligible electors are duly 

registered and/or notified of the disposition of their voter registration applications, and 

that registration procedures comply with the relevant provisions of the Voting Rights Act, 

the NVRA, and other federal laws. 

121. Moreover, the changes to Florida election laws have not cured past 

injuries complained of in these pleadings.  In fact, some of the changes will cause 

imminent future injury to the Individual Plaintiffs’ and the Injured Union Members’ 

voting rights. 

122. The new law provides that the checkmarks, discussed above, are 

“necessary to establish the applicant’s eligibility . . .”  Fla. Stat. § 97.053(5)(a) (2006).  

The new law further provides that “If a voter registration applicant fails to provide any of 
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the required information on the voter registration application form” the application shall 

not be processed.  Fla. Stat. §§ 97.052(5) & 97.053 (2006).   

123. This law clearly conflicts with the Voting Rights Act, which 

contemplates immaterial errors and omissions and does not require that an applicant 

comply with each and every registration requirement so long as his or her eligibility can 

be determined from the information given.  42 U.S.C. § 1971(A)(2)(B). 

124. Further as to the mental incapacity box, the statute now sets forth 

the precise wording required for all checkmark affirmations on the 2006 revised form.  

Fla. Stat. § 97.052(2) (2006).  Thus, the statute provides that: 

The uniform statewide voter registration application must 
be designed to elicit the following information from the 
applicant: 

. . .  

(r)  Whether the applicant has been adjudicated mentally 
incapacitated with respect to voting or, if so adjudicated, 
has had his or her right to vote restored by including the 
statement ‘I affirm I have not been adjudicated mentally 
incapacitated with respect to voting, or, if I have, my 
competency has been restored.’ And by providing a box for 
the applicant to check to affirm the statement. 

Id. 

125. Leaving no doubt that neither the Secretary of State nor the 

Defendant Supervisors has any discretion with regard to the manner of eliciting 

information concerning the legal competence of applicants, the new law, which 

prescribes confusing formulation.  Moreover, on information and belief, requiring voter 

applicants to check the mental incapacity box is utterly ineffective in effecting its 

supposed purpose of preventing voter fraud. 
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126. Further, the January 2006 revised Florida Voter Registration 

Application has been rendered more confusing by ambiguous instructions.  The 

application form states that “IF YOU ARE UNABLE TO AFFIRM THE STATEMENTS 

IN BOX 4 [mental incapacity] . . . YOU ARE INELIGIBLE TO REGISTER TO VOTE. 

DO NOT COMPLETE THIS FORM.  ”  A copy of the 2006 Florida Voter Registration 

Application is attached hereto as Exhibit B.  Thus by acting and signing the oath, and by 

declaring the he or she is “qualified as an elector” and affirming that “all information 

provided in this application is true,” the voter applicant has already doubly affirmed that 

he is legally competent to vote.  Id. 

127. The oath on the revised Florida Voter Registration Application is 

somewhat different from the oath on the prior application.  Fla. Stat. § 97.051 (2006).  

The new oath eliminates the words “I am a citizen of the United States,” but still requires 

the applicant to affirm that he or she meets the eligibility requirements set forth in plain 

language on the application on pain of “convict[ion] of a felony in the third degree and 

fine[d] up to $5000 and/or imprison[ment] for up to five years.”  Fla. Stat. § 97.041; see 

also Ex. B.  Thus by signing the oath and “solemnly swear[ing]” that he or she is 

“qualified to register as an elector” and “that all information provided in this application 

is true,” and otherwise completing the application, the voter applicant has evidenced, as 

conclusively as can be expected, that he or she meets the eligibility requirements for 

voting in Florida.  Failure to also check the mental incapacity, felon status, or citizenship 

boxes is not a material error or omission, and Defendants should not be permitted to 

deprive otherwise eligible electors the right to vote solely on that basis.   
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Ongoing Harm to Union Members 

128. The unions themselves, their members and thousands of working 

people and traditionally disenfranchised people continue to be harmed by Defendants’ 

ongoing unlawful practices and procedures. 

129. Union members who filed voter registration applications that were 

deemed incomplete for the reasons alleged are threatened with disenfranchisement in the 

September 2006 primaries and the November 2006 federal elections. 

130. The unions will be obliged to expend resources to obtain 

information concerning “incomplete” applications, to run matches against lists of union 

members, and to seek out those members whose applications have not been processed in 

time for their reregistration before book closing. 

131. As the deadline for registration approaches, union members will 

become interested in the election and attempt to register to vote.  As in 2004, thousands 

of union member applicants will neglect to check one or more of the citizenship, felon, 

and/or mental incapacity boxes.  

132. Those applicants who receive timely notice of such deficiencies 

will be impermissibly and unlawfully burdened with the requirement of submitting a 

second voter registration application with information that is immaterial to determining 

their eligibility to register.   

133. Those applicants who do not receive notice, or timely notice, of 

deficiencies in their application are prohibited, pursuant to recent amendments to 

Florida’s election code, from correcting their application after the voter registration 

deadline.  Accordingly, such eligible electors will be disenfranchised and unlawfully 

denied the right to vote in the 2006 elections. 
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134. On information and belief, dozens, if not hundreds of union 

members  who will file “incomplete” applications between the time of the filing of this 

complaint, and the close of books for the September 2006 primaries and the November 

2006 federal elections, will be disenfranchised unless this Court grants the requested 

declaratory and injunctive relief. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

135. The Individual Plaintiffs, Emma Diaz and John Lanman, bring this 

action on their own behalf and on behalf of all similarly situated eligible electors who 

reside in Broward, Duval, Miami-Dade, Orange, or Palm Beach County and who have 

been or will be, harmed by Defendants’ unlawful voter registration practices . 

136. In particular, the Individual Plaintiffs seek to represent a class 

consisting of all eligible electors who reside in Broward, Duval, Miami-Dade, Orange, or 

Palm Beach County and submitted a voter registration application to a Defendant 

Supervisor of Elections after January 1, 2004, and whose application was rejected, or will 

be rejected, because the applicant did not check the citizenship, mentally incapacity, 

and/or felon status box. 

137. Each of the requirements of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(a) 

is met. 

138. Members of the class are so numerous that joinder of all members 

is impracticable, and individual litigation by each would necessarily and substantially 

burden the operation of the judicial system and is prohibitive because the individual class 

members lack the financial means to maintain individual actions.  In addition, the 

prosecution of separate actions by individual class members would create a risk of 
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inconsistent or varying adjudications establishing incompatible rules of law for the 

protection of voting rights of class members. 

139. The number of class members can best be estimated from records 

in the control of Defendants.  They are believed to number in the thousands, and possibly 

tens of thousands.  

140. Common questions of law and fact predominate in this case in that 

the Supervisor Defendants have rejected or will reject class members’ voter registration 

application for the same unlawful ground or grounds, thereby depriving class members of 

their voting rights.   

141. The claims of the Individual Plaintiffs are typical of the class 

members in that their voter registration applications were denied on the same ground or 

grounds that the applications of the class members were denied, or will be denied.   

142. The Individual Plaintiffs will adequately and fairly represent and 

protect the interests of the class because each Individual Plaintiff has suffered the same or 

similar harm, and has the same or similar interest in redress of his/her rights as all other 

members of the class, and thus their interests overlap and do not conflict.  The attorneys 

representing the Individual Plaintiffs are experienced and capable litigators possessed of 

sufficient resources to adequately protect and represent the interests of the plaintiff class. 

143. The requirements of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(b)(2) are 

met in that Florida’s election laws which are the subject of this lawsuit have been applied 

to the members of the class as a whole, and Defendants have acted and refused to act on 

grounds generally applicable to the class, thereby making appropriate injunctive relief 

and corresponding declaratory relief with respect to the class as a whole.  A class action 
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is the exclusive method by which the interests of all affected persons can be adequately 

protected. 

VI. FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 
(SECTION 1983 CLAIM FOR VIOLATION OF THE VOTING RIGHTS 
ACT’S MATERIALITY PROVISION, 42 U.S.C. § 1971 (A)(2)(B)) 
(As Against All Defendants for Conducts in 2004 and 2006) 
 

144. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation in the 

foregoing paragraphs 1 through 142 above as if fully set forth herein. 

145. The Voting Rights Act prohibits Defendants from denying a 

person the right to vote because of an error or omission in a registration application that 

“is not material to determining whether such individual is qualified to vote in such 

election.”  42 U.S.C. § 1971(a)(2)(B). 

146. The Supervisor Defendants, acting under color of state law in their 

official capacities have violated, and continue to violate, the materiality provision of the 

Voting Rights Act and by failing to process voter registration applications containing 

only non-material omissions enumerated herein, namely: 

(A) The lack of a check in the mental capacity box, and/or 

(B) The lack of a check in the felon status box; and/or 

(C) The lack of a check in the citizenship box. 

147. Acting under color of state law, former Secretary of State Hood 

violated the materiality provisions of the Voting Rights Act, and the current Secretary of 

State, Defendant Cobb, continues to violate the materiality provision of the Voting Rights 

Act, by failing to direct the Supervisors of Elections, including the Defendant Supervisor, 
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to comply with the materiality provision of the Voting Rights Act by registering 

applicants who did not check one or more of the above-described boxes, but whose 

applications contained no other errors or omissions. 

VII. SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 
(SECTION 1983 CLAIM FOR VIOLATION OF THE VOTING RIGHTS 
ACT’S UNIFORMITY PROVISION, 42 U.S.C. § 1971 (A)(2)(A))  
(As Against All Defendants for Conduct in 2004 and 2006) 
 

148. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation in the 

foregoing paragraphs 1 through 146 above as if fully set forth herein. 

149. The Voting Rights Act prohibits state election officials from 

applying different “standards, practices or procedures” for determining voter eligibility to 

individuals within the same county.  See 42 U.S.C. § 197 1 (a)(2)(a). 

150. Defendants, acting in their respective capacities as the Florida 

Secretary of State and County Supervisors of Elections, have violated and continue to 

violate this provision of the Voting Rights Act by registering applicants who submit 

either of the federal voter registration applications, which do not require a separate 

indication of felon status or mental capacity, while refusing to register applicants who 

submit the Florida Voter Registration Application Form, without checking the felon 

status and mental capacity boxes on Lines 3 and 4. 
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VIII. THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 
 (SECTION 1983 CLAIM OF DEPRIVATION OF PLAINTIFFS’ 
FUNDAMENTAL RIGHT TO VOTE WITHOUT DUE PROCESS OF 
LAW UNDER THE FIRST, FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS 
OF THE U.S. CONSTITUTION) (As Against All Defendants for Conduct in 
2004) 
 

151. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation in the 

foregoing paragraphs 1 through 149 above as if fully set forth herein. 

152. The Individual Plaintiffs, certain members of the union plaintiffs, 

and thousands of other eligible electors who filed their voter registration applications 

before the close of books in 2004 were not placed on the voter rolls and were thus 

prevented from casting their vote in the 2004 federal elections, solely because they failed 

to check a box seeking redundant information on the application form. 

153. Defendants acting in their official capacities under color of state 

law,  are responsible for the vote denial, because they: 

(A) issued registration applications that are confusing and 

ambiguous as to the three checkboxes at issue; 

(B) required that voter applicants undergo the functional 

equivalent of a literacy and comprehension test in order to affirm legal capacity to vote; 

(C) failed to process applications with immaterial omissions; 

(D) failed timely to notify, or to notify at all, in order that the 

omission may be cured before the close of books; and 

(E) failed to provide for a grace period during which omissions 

could be cured; 
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154. These practices unfairly burden Plaintiffs’ fundamental right to 

vote without adequate safeguards and in violation of the Due Process Clause of the 

Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution. 

155. In the alternative, each of the above practices, or the combination 

of these practices, is arbitrary and irrational and serves no legitimate, and certainly no 

compelling, government interest.  

IX. FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
 (SECTION 1983 CLAIM OF DEPRIVATION OF PLAINTIFFS’ 
FUNDAMENTAL RIGHT TO VOTE WITHOUT DUE PROCESS OF 
LAW) (As Against All Defendants for Conduct in 2006) 
 

156. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation in the 

foregoing paragraphs 1 through 154 above as if fully set forth herein. 

157. Hundreds of members of the union plaintiffs, and thousands of 

other eligible electors who will file their voter registration applications well before the 

close of books in 2006 will not be placed on the voter rolls and will thus be prevented 

from casting their vote in the November 2006 federal elections, solely because they failed 

to check a box seeking redundant information on the application form. 

158. Defendants acting in their official capacities under color of state 

law,  are responsible for the imminent vote denial, because they: 

(A) issued registration applications that are confusing and 

ambiguous as to the three checkboxes at issue, and will continue to do so because so 

required by a new state statute or Department of State administrative rule or directive; 

(B) required that voter applicants undergo the functional 

equivalent of a literacy and comprehension test in order to affirm legal capacity to vote, 
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and will continue to do so, because so required by a new state statute or Department of 

State administrative rule or directive; 

(C) will fail to process applications with immaterial omissions, 

because so required by a new state statute or Department of State administrative rule or 

directive; and 

(D) will fail to provide for a grace period during which 

omissions may be cured, because so required by a new state statute or Department of 

State administrative rule or directive. 

159. These practices, which, barring a change in law or an emergency 

intervention of this Court, will cause many union members and otherwise eligible 

electors to be deprived of their right to vote in violation of Plaintiffs’ fundamental right to 

vote under the Due Process and Equal Protection Clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment 

of the United States Constitution. 

X. FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
 (SECTION 1983 CLAIM FOR UNDUE BURDEN ON THE RIGHT TO 
VOTE IN VIOLATION OF THE EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAW) 
(As Against All Defendants) 
 

160. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation in the 

foregoing paragraphs 1 through 158 above as if fully set forth herein. 

161. Defendants, acting in their official capacities and under color of 

state law, have engaged in and continue to engage in the following unlawful practices:  

maintaining and administering non-uniform methods and practices of administering 

elections; depriving voter registration applicants, including the Individual Plaintiffs and 
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members of the plaintiff unions, of their voting rights without providing the applicants 

timely notice or opportunity to remedy alleged deficiencies in their applications, as 

required by law; and depriving the Individual Plaintiffs and certain of the union 

plaintiffs’ members the right to equal protection in violation of the Fifth, Fourteenth and 

Fifteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

162. Defendants, by their actions described in this Complaint, have 

denied the right to vote to the Individual Plaintiffs, individual members of the plaintiff 

organizations and others because of one or more omissions on a registration application, 

which are not material in determining whether the individuals are qualified to vote. 

XI. SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
(CLAIM FOR VIOLATION OF THE VOTING RIGHTS ACT OF 1965, 42 
U.S.C. § 1973aa) (As Against All Defendants for Conduct in 2004 and 2006) 

163. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation in the 

foregoing paragraphs 1 through 161 above as if fully set forth herein. 

164. The Voting Rights Act of 1965 prohibits the denial of any citizen’s 

right to vote in any Federal, State, or local election because of his failure to comply with 

any test or device, including “that a person as a prerequisite for voting or registration for 

voting (1) demonstrate the ability to read, write, understand, or interpret any matter.”  42 

U.S.C. § 1973aa. 

165. The requirement that all citizens registering to vote check a box 

next to a statement with the confusing formulation, “I affirm that I have not been 

adjudicated mentally incapacitated with respect to voting, or, if I have, my competency 

has been restored,” functions as the equivalent of a literacy and comprehension test. 
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166. Defendant Supervisors’ failure to register voters who did not check 

this box on their applications, but whose applications were in all other respects complete, 

violates the Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1973aa(a) and violates the Individual 

Plaintiffs’ and certain union plaintiffs’ members due process rights under the First, Fifth 

and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution. 

167. Defendant Cobb’s failure to direct the County Supervisors of 

Elections to register voters who did not check this box on their applications, but whose 

applications were in all other respects complete, violates the Individual Voting Rights 

Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1973aa(a) and violates Plaintiffs’ and certain union plaintiffs’ members 

due process rights under the First, Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States 

Constitution.. 

XII. SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
(CLAIM FOR VIOLATION OF THE NATIONAL VOTER 
REGISTRATION ACT OF 1993,42 U.S.C. § 1973gg et seq.) 
(As Against All Defendants for Conduct in 2004 and 2006) 

168. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation in the 

foregoing paragraphs 1 through 166 above as if fully set forth herein. 

169. The National Voter Registration Act of 1993 requires, inter alia, 

that:   

(a) any motor voter registration form may not require duplicate 
information and should contain only  the minimum amount of information 
necessary to “enable State election officials to assess the eligibility of the 
applicant.”  42 U.S.C. §§ 1973gg-3 and 1973gg-6 (2006); and 

(b)  the mail voter registration form “may require only such identifying 
information (including the signature of the applicant), as is necessary to 
enable the appropriate State election official to assess the eligibility of the 
applicant and to administer voter registration and other parts of the 
election process.” 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg-7(b)(1): 
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170. The Supervisor Defendants, acting under color of state law in their 

official capacities have violated, and continue to violate, the NVRA by refusing to 

process voter registration applications on which the applicant did not provide immaterial 

and unnecessary information, namely:  

(A) The lack of a check in the mental capacity box, and/or 

(B) The lack of a check in the felon status box; and/or 

(C) The lack of a check in the citizenship box. 

171. Acting under color of state law, the former Secretary of State, 

Hood, violated NVRA, and the current Secretary of State, Defendant Cobb, continues to 

violate NVRA, by failing to direct the Supervisors of Elections to comply with the 

NVRA by registering applicants who did not check one or more of the above-described 

boxes, but whose applications contained no other errors or omissions. 

172. Defendants have violated and continue to violate the NVRA as a 

result of their policy and practice of denying applicants the right to vote on the basis of 

non-material omissions in voter registration applications, through failure to notify 

applicants of the disposition of their applications or failing to provide them with adequate 

opportunity for curing any omission. 

 

XIII. PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully pray for a judgment: 

(1) Certifying a class, pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(2), consisting 

of all eligible electors who reside in Broward, Duval, Miami-Dade, 
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Orange, or Palm Beach Counties and submitted a voter registration 

application to a Defendant Supervisor of Elections after January 1, 

2004, and whose application was rejected, or will be rejected, 

because the applicant did not check the citizenship, mentally 

incapacity, and/or felon status box. 

(2) Declaring that the Florida Secretary of State violated the Voting 

Rights Act and the United States Constitution in 2004 by directing 

Florida’s 67 Supervisors of Elections to deem incomplete 

applications where the only omission was the failure to check the 

citizenship box; 

(3) Declaring that Defendant Supervisors of Elections violated and 

continue to violate the Voting Rights Act, the NVRA, and the 

United States Constitution by refusing to process applications 

solely because an applicant failed to check the citizenship box, the 

felon status box, and/or the mental capacity box; 

(4) Declaring Florida’s amendments to its election code, described 

herein, violate the U.S. Constitution, NVRA, and the Voting 

Rights Act; 

(5) Declaring that the rejection as incomplete by the Defendant 

Supervisors of Florida Voter Registration Application Forms 

where the felon status and/or mental capacity boxes were not 

checked, while accepting as complete federal voter registration 

applications that did not include those boxes, denied the Individual 
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Plaintiffs and certain of the union plaintiffs’ members’ 

fundamental fairness and equal opportunity to participate in the 

electoral process, all in violation of the Voting Rights Act, the 

NVRA, and the United States Constitution; 

(6) Declaring that the Defendant Supervisors violated the Voting 

Rights Act, the NVRA, and the United States Constitution by 

failing to provide timely notice to applicants whose registration 

forms were deemed incomplete and an opportunity for those 

applicants to submit the missing information in time to vote in the 

November 2004 federal election; 

(7) Directing Defendant Cobb to issue a directive to all Supervisors of 

Elections stating that the absence of a check in the citizenship box, 

the felon status box or the mental capacity box does not render a 

Florida Voter Registration Application Form incomplete, and does 

not constitute a legal basis for not registering the applicant; 

(8) Directing the Defendant Supervisors to register applicants whose 

voter registration applications were postmarked by the 29th day 

prior to the November 2006 federal election, including applicants 

who attempted to register for the 2004 election, but who did not 

check the citizenship box, the felon status box and/or the mental 

capacity box, and to allow those applicants to vote in the 

November 2006 federal election; or in the alternative, directing the 

Defendant Supervisors to permit such applicants to cast a 
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provisional ballot, which ballot shall be counted so long as such 

applicants return to their County Supervisor’s or registrar’s office 

within forty-eight hours and present a completed registration form 

with all the boxes checked; or in the alternative, directing the 

Defendant Supervisors to permit such applicants a grace period of 

fifteen days after the close of books during which they may cure 

any of the described defects by submitting a new registration form. 

(9) Awarding nominal damages in the amount of $1 to each Individual 

Plaintiff, and to all similarly situated individuals who were denied 

their right to vote in the November 2004 elections by the 

Defendant County Supervisors’ unlawful actions, and to each 

union plaintiff;  

(10) Awarding the Plaintiffs attorneys’ fees and costs; and 

(11) Providing any other relief the Court deems necessary. 
 

Dated:  West Palm Beach 
Florida, May 17, 2006 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED, 
 
/s/ Mary Jill Hanson                           
Mary Jill Hanson, Esq. 
Florida Bar No.:  0727369 
Hanson, Perry & Jensen, P.A. 
400 Executive Center Drive, Suite 207 
West Palm Beach, Florida  33401 
Telephone:  561-686-6550 
Fax:  561-686-2802 
E-mail:  mjhanson@hpjlaw.com 
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**Judith A. Browne 
**Elizabeth S. Westfall 
Advancement Project 
1730 M. Street, NW, Suite 910 
Washington, DC  20036 
Phone:  202-728-9557 
Fax:  202-728-9558  
E-mail:  ewestfall@advancementproject.org 
 
**Michael Halberstam  
Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton 
     & Garrison LLP 
1285 Avenue of the Americas 
New York, NY  10019-6064 
Phone:  212-373-3000 
Fax:  212-757-3990 
E-mail:  mhalberstam@paulweiss.com 
 
* Jonathan P. Hiatt 
AFL-CIO 
815 Sixteenth Street, NW 
Washington, DC  20006 
Phone:  202-637-5053 
Fax:  202-637-5323 
E-mail:  jhiatt@aflcio.org 
 
Manny Anon, Jr. 
Florida Public Employees Council 79 
3064 Highland Oaks Terrace 
Tallahassee, Florida  32301 
Phone:  850-222-0842 
Fax:  850-224-6926 
E-mail:  m_anon@afscmefl.org 
 
**Elliot Mincberg 
People for the American Way Foundation  
2000 M Street, Suite 400 
Washington, DC  20036 
Phone:  202-467-2392 
Fax:  202-293-2672 
E-mail:  emincberg@pfaw.org 
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* Judith A. Scott 
* John J. Sullivan 
SEIU 
1313 L. Street, NW 
Washington, DC  20005 
Phone:  202-898-3453 
Fax:  202-898-3323  
E-mail:  sullivaj@seiu.org 
 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
* Pro hac vice motion to be files; ** Admitted pro hac vice 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that a true and correct copy of the foregoing was sent via U.S. 

mail and electronically as an email attachment this 17th day of May, to counsel for the 

parties listed in Exhibit A, attached hereto. 

 
New York, New York 
 
     By:  __/s/Michael Halberstam______________ 
      **Michael Halberstam 
      Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton 
           & Garrison LLP 
      1285 Avenue of the Americas 
      New York, NY  10019-6064 

      Phone:  212-373-3000 
      Fax:  212-492-0111 

    email:  mhalberstam@paulweiss.com 
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EXHIBIT A 
 

Service List 
 
 
Counsel for Defendants 
 
Peter Antonacci 
Allen C. Winsor 
GrayRobinson, P.A. 
301 South Bronough Street, Suite 600 
P.O. Box 11189 
Tallahassee, Florida  32302-3189 
   Phone:  850-222-7717 
   Fax:  850-222-3494 
email:  pva@gray-robinson.com, 
awinsor@gray-robinson.com 
Attorneys for Secretary of State 
 
Tracey I. Arpen, Jr. 
Deputy General Counsel 
Duval County 
City Hall, St. James Building 
117 West Duval Street, Suite 480 
Jacksonville, Florida  32202 

Phone:  904-630-1700 
Fax:  904-630-2388  
email:  tarpen@coj.net 

Attorneys for Jerry 
Holland, Duval County 
Supervisor of Elections 

Jeffrey P. Ehrlich 
Miami-Dade County Attorney’s Office  
111 N.W. First Street, Suite 2810  
Miami, Florida  33128 

Phone:  305-375-5151 
Fax:  305-375-5634 

email:  ehrlich@miamidade.gov 
Attorneys for Lester Sola, Miami-
Dade County Supervisor of Elections 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Ronald A. Labasky 
Young Van Assenderp, P.A 
225 S. Adams Street, Suite 200 
P.O. Box 1833 
Tallahassee, Florida  32302 

Phone:  850-222-7206 
Fax:  850-561-6834 

email:  rlabasky@yvlaw.net 
Attorneys for Arthur Anderson, Palm 
Beach County Supervisor of Elections 
 
Mike Cirullo 
David N. Tolces 
Goren, Cheroff, Doody & Ezrol, P.A. 
3099 East Commercial Boulevard, Suite 200 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida  33308 

Phone:  954-771-4500 
Fax:  954-771-4923 

email:  mcirullo@cityatty.com, 
dtolces@cityatty.com 
Attorneys for Bill Cowles, 
Orange County Supervisor of 
Elections 
 
Burnadette Norris-Weeks 
100 S.E. 6th Street 
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida  33301-3422 

Phone:  954-768-9770 
Fax:  954-768-9790 

email:  bnorris199@aol.com 
Attorneys for Brenda Snipes, Broward 
County Supervisor of Elections 
 
Ernst Mueller 
Office of City Attorney 
117 W. Duval Street, Suite 480 
Jacksonville, Florida  32202-3700 

Phone:  904-630-1700 
Fax:  904-630-1731 

email:  emueller@coj.net 
Attorneys for Duval County  
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Counsel For Plaintiffs 
 
Mary Jill Hanson 
Hanson, Perry & Jensen, P.A. 
400 Executive Center Drive, Suite 207 
West Palm Beach, Florida  33401 

Tel:  (561) 686-6550 
Fax:  (561) 686-2802 

Email:  mjhanson@hpjlaw.com 
 
**Judith A. Browne 
**Elizabeth S. Westfall 
Advancement Project 
1730 M. Street, NW, Suite 910 
Washington, DC  20036 

Phone:  202-728-9557 
Fax:  202-728-9558  

email:  ewestfall@advancementproject.org 
 
**Michael Halberstam 
Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton 
     & Garrison LLP 
1285 Avenue of the Americas 
New York, NY  10019-6064 

Phone:  212-373-3000 
Fax:  212-492-0111 

email:  mhalberstam@paulweiss.com 
 
* Jonathan P. Hiatt 
AFL-CIO 
815 Sixteenth Street, NW 
Washington, DC  20006 

Phone:  202-637-5053 
Fax:  202-637-5323 

email:  jhiatt@aflcio.org 

 

 

 

 
                                                
*  Pro hac vice motion to be filed. 

**  Admitted pro hac vice. 

 

Manny Anon, Jr. 
Florida Public Employees Council 79 
3064 Highland Oaks Terrace 
Tallahassee, Florida  32301 

Phone:  850-222-0842 
Fax:  850-224-6926 

email:  m_anon@afscmefl.org 
 
**Elliot Mincberg 
People for the American Way Foundation  
2000 M Street, Suite 400 
Washington, DC  20036 

Phone:  202-467-2392 
Fax:  202-293-2672 

email:  emincberg@pfaw.org  

* Judith A. Scott 
* John J. Sullivan 
SEIU 
1313 L. Street, NW 
Washington, DC  20005 

Phone:  202-898-3453 
Fax:  202-898-3323  
email:  sullivaj@seiu.org
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